ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000821

RECEIVED

FEB 05 2015

SC Court of Appeals

The Winthrop University Trustees for the
State of South Carolina, Respondent,

v.

Pickens Roofing and Sheet Metals, Inc., Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kirby D. Shealy III
Lyndey Ritz Zwing
Adams and Reese LLP
1501 Main Street, Fifth Floor
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 254-4190
Attorneys for Appellant

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PICKENS' MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE BASED ON THE COURT'S REFUSAL TO STRIKE A JUROR FOR CAUSE WHERE THAT JUROR ADMITTED HAVING PREVIOUS KNOWLEDGE OF THE FACTS AND A CURRENT RELATIONSHIP WITH WINTHROP?**

- II. **WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT PICKENS' MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT BASED ON WINTHROP'S FAILURE TO PRESENT ANY EVIDENCE THAT PICKENS CAUSED THE FIRE?**

- III. **WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE A RECHARGE OF PROXIMATE CAUSATION THAT INCLUDED FORESEEABILITY?**

- IV. **WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN BIFURCATING THE LIABILITY AND DAMAGES PHASES OF TRIAL WHERE CAUSATION AND DAMAGES WERE INEXTRICABLY INTERTWINED?**

- V. **WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PICKENS' MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO DAMAGES WHERE WINTHROP FAILED TO PRESENT ANY TESTIMONY ESTABLISHING THE DEGREE TO WHICH PICKENS' CONDUCT WORSENERED THE DAMAGES RESULTING FROM THE FIRE?**

- VI. **ALTERNATIVELY, WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ADJUST THE JUDGMENT TO REFLECT THE JURY'S DETERMINATION THAT WINTHROP WAS 40% AT FAULT?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was commenced by the filing of a summons and complaint in the York County Court of Common Pleas on September 5, 2012. (R. pp. 13-19.) Plaintiff Winthrop University Trustees for the State of South Carolina (“Winthrop”) alleged causes of action for breach of contract and negligence against Defendant Pickens Roofing and Sheet Metals, Inc. (“Pickens”) and sought damages arising from a fire that occurred upon Winthrop’s campus on March 6, 2010. (*Id.*) Pickens answered on October 4, 2012 and denied all liability. (R. pp. 61-66.) Among its affirmative defenses, Pickens alleged that Winthrop was comparatively negligent. (*Id.*)

The case was called to trial before a jury during the week of March 17-21, 2014. Over Pickens’ objection, the liability and damages phases of the trial were bifurcated. (*See* R. p. 149, line 7 – p. 151, line 5.) During jury selection, Pickens moved to strike Juror 25 for cause based upon that juror’s status as a “student researcher” for Winthrop, who had been enrolled as a Winthrop student and was on campus when the fire occurred that formed the predicate for Winthrop’s lawsuit. (*Id.* at p. 144, lines 9-23.) The trial court denied Pickens’ motion and forced it to use one of its peremptory strikes to remove that juror. (*Id.* at p. 145, line 2 – p. 148, line 6.)

Following a four-day trial on liability, Pickens moved for a directed verdict on the grounds that Winthrop had offered no evidence that some act or omission by Pickens had caused the fire to ignite. (R. p. 788, line 3 – p. 789, line 21.) Although acknowledging that Winthrop had failed to adduce any evidence as to the ignition of the fire, the trial court nonetheless denied Pickens’ motion on the grounds that Winthrop had introduced evidence to show that once the fire was ignited, Pickens’ acts or omissions caused it to

spread. (R. p. 791, line 18 – p. 800, line 2.) Pickens put up no evidence during the liability phase of trial. (*Id.* at p. 801, lines 5-8; p. 803, lines 11-25.)

During the jury's deliberations on the issue of liability, it sent a note to the trial court asking, among other things, to be recharged concerning proximate cause. (R. p. 879, line 21 – p. 880, line 7.) The court provided an instruction as to cause-in-fact, but it left out any instruction as to foreseeability. (*Id.* at p. 881, line 14 – p. 882, line 4.) Pickens objected but was overruled. (*Id.* at p. 882, line 11 – p. 883, line 22.) The jury returned a verdict in Winthrop's favor as to its breach of contract and negligence causes of action, but it found that Winthrop bore 40% of the responsibility for the loss. (*Id.* at p. 884, line 3 – p. 885, line 5.) Pickens moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the basis that the jury was never presented any evidence as to how the fire was caused to ignite. (*Id.* at p. 886, line 21 – p. 887, line 6) That motion was denied. (*Id.* at p. 887, lines 7-19.)

At the close of Winthrop's case as to damages, Pickens renewed its earlier directed verdict motion. (R. p. 945, lines 4-10.) It additionally moved for a directed verdict on the grounds that Winthrop had failed to introduce evidence as to how much worse the damages caused by the fire were than they would have been in the absence of Pickens' involvement. (*Id.* at p. 945, line 11 – p. 946, line 1.) These motions were likewise denied. (*Id.* at p. 946, line 13 – p. 965, line 10.)

The jury returned a verdict for Winthrop in the amount of \$7,223,343.14. (R. p. 975, lines 4-13; *see also* R. p. 10.) Pickens moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the same grounds it had previously raised at the directed verdict stage of the trial. (*Id.* at p. 977, lines 6-10.) It also moved for a new trial absolute on the grounds that

the trial court erred in bifurcating the trial and in failing to grant Pickens' motion to strike Juror 25 for cause. (*Id.* at p. 978, lines 4-6.) Alternatively, Pickens moved that the judgment be governed by the jury's comparative negligence determination on the grounds that the duty giving rise to Winthrop's contract claim was identical to the duty that gave rise to Winthrop's negligence claim. (*Id.* at p. 978, lines 7-22.) The trial court denied all of these motions. (*Id.* at p. 983, line 2 – p. 989, line 9.) Winthrop thereafter elected to recover under its contract cause of action. (*Id.* at p. 984, lines 8-21.)

Pickens received written notice on March 27, 2014 that judgment had been entered against it and timely filed its Notice of Appeal on April 21, 2014.

FACTS

Under the leadership of Winthrop's former President, Anthony DiGiorgio, Winthrop went through a transformative period, experiencing a multi-million dollar construction boom that led to the placement of several new buildings on its campus over the last twenty-five years. (R. p. 573, line 18 – p. 574, line 5; p. 514, line 12– p. 515, line 2.)

Among those new buildings is Owens Hall, constructed in 2007. (R. p. 576, lines 4-7.) Owens Hall is a state-of-the-art academic building with multiple classroom and office spaces in which technological teaching aids have been fully integrated into the structure. (*Id.* at p. 575, line 16 – p. 576, line 3.)

In 2009, President DiGiorgio sought to re-roof one of the older academic buildings on its campus known as Bancroft Hall. (R. p. 515, lines 13-15; p. 516, lines 2-6.) Bancroft Hall is a U-shaped building that contains primarily classrooms and professors' offices. (*Id.* at p. 522, lines 10-17; p. 609, lines 12-20.) The building was

originally constructed in 1909 and is connected to Owens Hall by way of the Bancroft Annex. (*Id.* at p. 522, lines 10-17.) Both Bancroft and Owens Halls have multiple roof surfaces, but most of their respective footprints are covered by sloped, asphalt-shingled roofing. (*Id.* at p. 576, lines 16-24; p. 605, lines 4-25.) However, the manner by which the shingle roofing systems are constructed on each building is different. Owens Hall's shingles are nailed to plywood nailboards that are adhered to both top and bottom sides of a layer of polyisocyanurate insulation, which is in turn mounted to a metal roof deck. (*Id.* at p. 279, lines 14-20.) All of these materials that are mounted to the metal roof deck are combustible. (*Id.* at p. 742, lines 6-18.) The older Bancroft Hall does not have the metal deck or the layer of insulation. Felt paper is nailed to plywood decking, and shingles are nailed over the felt paper in the same way that shingles are applied to residential structures. (*Id.* at p. 630, line 18 – p. 633, line 6.) While the materials that comprise it will burn, the roofing system that Pickens was hired to install on Bancroft carries the highest rating for resistance to fire known to the roofing industry. (*Id.* at p. 633, line 17 – p. 636, line 16.)

The roof over the Bancroft Annex is flat. It is comprised of metal decking that is covered by a layer of insulation and a thin, fully-adhered waterproof membrane. (R. p. 523, lines 14-25; p. 576, lines 16-24; p. 605, lines 3-25.) While this roofing system is combustible, it also carries the highest rating for resistance to fire known to the roofing industry. (*Id.* at p. 686, lines 6-19.) The flat roof is lower than the pitched roofs of the adjoining buildings and is accessible by means of a scuttle, or hatch, that opens onto the roof from Owens Hall and then climbing down a set of metal stairs approximately four feet. (*Id.* at p. 350, line 7- p. 351, line 2; p. 524, lines 18-24.) A ventilation fan for the

elevator shaft in Bancroft Hall projects through the brick sidewall along the flat roof next to the metal stairs. (R. p. 290, line 25 – p. 291, line 15; p. 588, lines 17-21.) That fan is the only mechanical device on the flat roof over the Bancroft Annex. (*See id.*) It is located immediately adjacent to the metal stairs described above. (*Id.*)

Immediately adjacent to the flat roof on the inside of Owens Hall is a mechanical room and the elevator shaft for Owens Hall. (R. p. 295, line 24 - p. 296, line 7.) The roof hatch is accessed by entering the mechanical room through a set of doors that are supposed to be kept locked. (*Id.* at p. 340, lines 13-19; p. 350, line 7 – p. 351, line 13; p. 408, lines 8-12; p. 524, line 18 – p. 525, line 12.)

The re-roofing of Bancroft Hall was primarily motivated by President DiGiorgio's aesthetic concerns, as the aging transite shingles on the building were covered with lichen, making the building look old and unmaintained. (R. p. 576, lines 10-15; p. 583, lines 6-14; p. 610, lines 11-17.)

Pickens won the bid for the re-roofing project, which began in 2009. (R. p. 615, line 23 – p. 616, line 11.) It had worked with Winthrop on several previous roofing jobs and was working with it on another roofing project on campus during the Bancroft Hall project, so the entities were generally familiar with how they each operated. (*Id.* at p. 395, lines 1-10; p. 398, line 21 – p. 399, line 6; p. 469, lines 14-17.)

The original specifications for the project called for the roofing contractor to have two staging or "lay down" areas at ground level, immediately adjacent to Bancroft Hall. (R. p. 401, line 23 - p. 402, line 3.) However, President DiGiorgio objected to the visibility of one of the lay down areas, indicating that it was unsightly to visitors and other pedestrians on campus. (*Id.* at p. 401, line 9 - p. 402, line 11.) One lay down area

was therefore removed during the final negotiations of the roofing contract with Pickens. (R. p. 401, line 9 - p. 402, line 13.) Pickens informed Wes Love, Winthrop's project manager for the Bancroft Hall re-roofing job, that not having the second lay down area would increase the labor costs for the project, as it would not be as efficient to move workers and supplies up to the roof level from only one area on the ground. (*Id.* at p. 515, lines 16-18; p. 516, line 22 – p. 517, line 23; p. 577, lines 17-24.) The parties therefore negotiated an addendum to the roofing contract to allow for the higher labor cost. (*Id.*)

Pickens subcontracted the demolition work and most of the shingling work to other companies. (R. p. 428, lines 13-15; p. 429, line 24 - p. 430, line 10.) However, it kept the metal fabrication aspects of the job in-house. (*See id.* at p. 319, lines 13-16.) Pickens employees were involved in the project in various capacities. (*Id.* at p. 319, lines 8-10; p. 335, line 22 – p. 336, line 7; p. 344, lines 6-16; p. 398, lines 15-20; p. 399, lines 7-8.) Clint Robinson was the project manager who had bid the job and was responsible for its overall progress and for addressing issues as they arose during the project. (*Id.* at p. 399, lines 7-8; p. 440, lines 11-13.)

During the week of March 1 to March 5, 2010, a metal crew from Pickens was installing copper panels on dormer roof projections along one particular pitch of Bancroft Hall's roof. (R. p. 319, lines 13-16; p. 329, lines 20-24; p. 347, lines 9-25.) The work did not involve the use of torches, soldering guns or any other tools that produced heat or flame. (*Id.* at p. 335, lines 10-19; p. 347, lines 11-25.) The crew stored metal pieces on the flat roof where Bancroft and Owens Halls adjoined to keep them from blowing or sliding off the pitched roof while they worked. (*Id.* at p. 350, lines 1-6.)

The members of Pickens' metal crew that worked on Bancroft during the week of March 1-5, 2010 were Brandon Lusk, Matthew Pruitt, and Randall "Randy" Pruitt. (*See* R. p. 319, lines 13-16.) Randy Pruitt served as foreman and the others were helpers. (*Id.* at p. 314, lines 15-18; p. 315, lines 3-10; p. 357, line 22 – p. 358, line 3; p. 379, lines 4-5; p. 405, lines 10-11; p. 418, lines 16-22.) None of the crew members smoked. (*Id.* at p. 328, lines 20-21; p. 346, lines 7-9; p. 368, lines 4-9; p. 389, lines 5-10.)

On March 5, 2010, the metal crew was the only Pickens crew working on Bancroft Hall.¹ (R. p. 342, line 6 - p. 343, line 12.) They were joined by Bobby Pickens for about 45 minutes. (*Id.* at p. 334, lines 23-25; p. 471, line 18 – p. 472, line 8.) He took pictures of their work activity and then left the jobsite. (*Id.*)

The crew stopped working at approximately 4:00 p.m. (R. p. 371, lines 24-25; p. 289, lines 13-16.) They came down and spoke with Clint Robinson, who had come by the jobsite that afternoon to ask about their progress. (*Id.* at p. 419, lines 3-17.) Robinson did not go on the roof that day; in fact, it had been one or two weeks since he had last been on the roof. (*Id.* at p. 408, line 25- p. 409, line 2.)

Winthrop asserted that when the Pickens metal crew left the jobsite on March 5, 2010, they left shingles, roofing paper and other combustible materials on the flat roof. None of these materials is known to ignite spontaneously; in fact, they are designed to resist fire. (R. p. 304, line 22 - p. 305, line 16.) To establish its prima facie case, Winthrop relied primarily upon the testimony of Pickens employees, which was conflicting in many respects as to what materials were left on the flat roof when the crew

¹ There was evidence that a technician from Southern Elevator had performed routine maintenance on the elevators in both Bancroft and Owens Halls on either March 4 or 5, 2010. (*See* R. p. 586, line 12 - p. 588, line 16; R. p. 1417.)

left for the day.² Nonetheless, there was testimony that packs of shingles and roofing paper had been stored on the flat roof and could have been left there when the crew stopped working on March 5, 2010.³ (See R. p. 359, line 16 – p. 360, line 3; p. 385, lines 5-25; p. 386, lines 13, 20-22, p. 387, lines 14-16; p. 356, line 19 – p. 357, line 6; p. 387, lines 11-13, p. 387, line 24 – p. 388, line 5.) There was also testimony that the use of the flat roof as a storage or staging area was done with Winthrop’s knowledge, and that Winthrop had not designated anyone to serve as its “fire prevention program superintendent” for the project. (*Id.* at p. 336, lines 8-10; p. 405, lines 20-25; p. 530, line 4 - p. 531, line 20; p. 584, line 22 - p. 586, line 11.)

Shortly before 3:00 p.m. on March 6, 2010, a Winthrop student noticed smoke emanating from Owens Hall and dialed 911. (R. p. 305, line 17 – p. 306, line 1; p. 478, line 25 – p. 480, line 11.) The fire department arrived within 15 minutes, but the fire was burning within the insulation layer of the roofing system on Owens Hall and was difficult to extinguish. (*Id.* p. 305, line 17 - p. 308, line 1; p. 278, line 23 - p. 280, line 3.) The fire burned from March 5, 2010 until approximately 6:45 p.m. on March 7, 2010. No source of ignition could ever be identified by any fire investigator. (*Id.* p. 290, line 15 - p. 293, line 14; p. 295, lines 21-23; p. 747, lines 22-24.)

² Several witnesses testified that only metal was stored on the flat roof while others testified that shingles and roofing paper were also stored there. (See R. 350, lines 1-6 (regarding storage of copper on flat roof); p. 385, lines 5-20 (same), p. 387, lines 16-18 (same), p. 388, lines 19-22 (same). See also R. p. 359, line 16 – p. 360, line 3 (regarding storage of shingles); p. 385, lines 5-20 (same); p. 385, lines 21-25 (same); p. 386, lines 20-22 (same), p. 387, lines 14-16 (same); see also p. 386, lines 13 (regarding storage of tar paper on the flat roof); p. 387, lines 11-13, p. 387, line 24 – p. 388, line 5 (same); p. 472, line 17- p. 473, line 18 (Pickens reported to Winthrop that it only lost metal in the fire).)

³ Unquestionably, packs of shingles were left along the ridgeline of the pitched roof on Bancroft Hall, as these were depicted in photographs taken before and after the fire, but these shingle packs did not burn in the fire. (See R.-p. 348, lines 1-6; p. 352, lines 5-16.)

The jury was instructed that section 8.3.3 of chapter 241 of the codes and standards promulgated by the National Fire Protection Association (“NFPA”) states that “Yard storage of equipment to be installed or combustible construction materials shall not be stored closer than 30 feet from the structure under construction or alteration” and that this provision had the force of law at the time of the fire. (*See* R. p. 861, line 7 – p. 862, line 22.) Likewise, the jury was instructed that in any construction project, the property owner is required to designate “a person who shall be responsible for the fire prevention program and who shall insure that it is carried out to completion.” (*Id.* at p. 862, lines 15-19.) The jury was instructed that such person designated by the property owner was to be known as the “fire prevention program manager” who would have the “authority to enforce the provisions of [Section 7.2 of the IFC] and other applic[able] fire protection standards.” (*Id.* at 862, lines 20-23; *see also* p. 862, line 24 – p. 863, line 5.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PICKENS’ MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE BASED ON THE COURT’S REFUSAL TO STRIKE JUROR 25 FOR CAUSE.

During the jury selection process, Juror 25, Vitta Clawson (“Juror 25”), responded affirmatively to several voir dire questions posed by the Court. Based on her answers, Juror 25 should have been stricken for cause because she was a current “student researcher” at Winthrop, had been a Winthrop student at the time of the fire, had previous knowledge of the facts of the case, and had discussed the subject fire with Winthrop professors and students at the time of the fire. (R. p. 116, line 6 - page 117, line 20.) The trial court erred in denying Pickens’ motion to strike Juror 25 for cause and in denying Pickens’ motion for new trial absolute.

Juror 25 responded affirmatively to several questions posed by the trial court to the jury venire. The first question was whether “any member of the jury panel or any member of your immediate family . . . [ever] worked for or ha[d] any business relationship with Winthrop University[?]” (*See* R. p. 112, line 23 – p. 113, line 1.) Juror 25 answered that she was a current “student researcher” at Winthrop and “d[id] know about this [incident].” (*Id.* at p. 116, lines 7-8.⁴) She also had personal knowledge of the subject fire, including its alleged cause. (*Id.* at p. 117, lines 8-12.)

Following the colloquy on this particular question, the court asked Juror 25 whether her “experiences in that regard and those relationships would interfere in any way with [her] ability to give both sides . . . a fair and impartial trial.” (R. at p. 116, line 23 – p. 117, line 4.) Juror 25 responded: “I could do that. I could do that. That’s not a problem. It’s just I wanted to say that I knew things that occurred.” (*Id.* at p. 117, lines 5-7.) The court continued to question her about her prior knowledge of the fire. (*See id.* at p. 117, lines 8-10.) She responded: “I was there during the fire, the incident, so I know people who were affected by it.” (*See id.* at p. 116, lines 16-17.) She further responded that she knew about “[t]he fire, the incident, things that were said about how it occurred, and so forth.” (*Id.* at p. 117, lines 11-12.)

Juror 25 also responded affirmatively to several other voir dire questions, including whether “any member of the jury panel or member of [their] immediate family obtained a degree or attended classes at Winthrop University” and whether “any member of the jury panel had any prior knowledge about this case from any source before”

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