ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000821

RECEIVED
FEB 09 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE WINTHROP UNIVERSITY TRUSTEES
FOR THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

v.

PICKENS ROOFING AND SHEET METALS, INC.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Zachary M. Jett, Esq.
SC Bar. No.: 100484
Peter M. Vogt, Esq.
Admitted *Pro Hac Vice*
Butler Pappas Weihmuller Katz
Craig, LLP
11620 N. Community House Road
Charlotte, NC 28277
(704) 543-2321/(704) 543-2324
Attorneys for Respondent

Kirby D. Shealy, III, Esq.
Lyndey Ritz Zwing, Esq.
Adams and Reese LLP

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

In negligence, the issue is whether damages were foreseeable at the time of the negligent act. *Young v. Tide Craft*, 270 S.C. 453, 462, 242 S.E.2d 671, 675 (1978). Thus, there is no basis to reverse the final judgment for breach of contract on these grounds.

Second, and as Pickens acknowledges, during the court’s initial charge, the court charged the jury on the definition of “proximate cause,” and also the definition of “foreseeability.” (Appellant’s Brief, p. 26.) Pickens did not object to the charges. After deliberating for a time, the jury sent a note to the judge requesting to be recharged “on the ‘definition of proximate cause.’” (Appellant’s Brief p. 26, quoting R. p. 879, lines 15-22; R. p. 1474.) The trial court recharged the jury as follows:

THE COURT: Now, as to proximate cause, I charged you previously that even if you find that the plaintiff has proved the defendant to have been negligent they would not be entitled to a verdict unless you further found that the defendant's negligence was the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injuries. Proximate cause does not mean the so[le] cause. The defendant's conduct can be a proximate cause if it was at least one of the direct concurring causes of the injury. The law defines proximate cause to be something that produces a natural chain of events which in the end brings about the injury. In other words—or damage. In other words proximate cause is a direct cause without which the damage would not have occurred. Okay. Anything else that you need while we are out?

THE FOREPERSON: No, that answers it.

THE COURT: If you need anything else you will let me know.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.

(R. p. 881, line 14-p. 882, line 8.)

“It is well established in South Carolina that ‘[w]hen a jury requests an additional charge, it is sufficient for the court to charge only those matters necessary to answer the jury’s request.’” *State v. Anderson*, 322 S.C. 89, 94, 470 S.E.2d 103, 106 (1996). Thus, where the recharge is limited to answering the jury’s question and the initial charge was adequate, there is no error. *Barksdale*, 311 S.C. 210 at 216, 428 S.E.2d at 502.

On appeal, Pickens admits that “Proximate cause is defined as ‘the efficient or direct cause of an injury.’” (Appellant’s Brief, p. 17) (quoting *McNair v. Rainsford*, 330 S.C. 332, 349, 499 S.E.2d 488, 497 (Ct. App. 1998)). Black’s Law Dictionary defines proximate cause as follows:

- Proximate cause.** 1. A cause that is legally sufficient to result in liability.
2. A cause that directly produces an event and without which the event would not have occurred.

Black’s Law Dictionary 213 (7th ed. 1999). Neither definition includes “foreseeability.” The trial court’s recharge on the “definition of proximate cause” mimics both the Black’s

Law Dictionary definition and Pickens' own definition at page 17 of its brief. The trial court answered the jury's question completely and sufficiently. *Anderson*, 322 S.C. at 94. And the jury confirmed that the trial court's instruction was sufficient to answer its question. (R. p. 882, line 5.)

On appeal, Pickens argues the court erred in failing to recharge other concepts of "legal cause" and "foreseeability." First, Pickens never asked the trial court to recharge "legal cause," nor did it object to the court's recharge on the basis that it lacked a definition for "legal cause."⁹ As this Court has held, "Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review. Arguments raised for the first time on appeal are not preserved for our review." *In re Jamal G*, 396 S.C. at 163. Pickens' argument on "legal cause" is not preserved and merits no relief.

Pickens' argument on foreseeability is likewise meritless. As is plain from the Black's Law Dictionary definition and Pickens' own definition above, the "definition of proximate cause" does not include any reference to "foreseeability." Pickens effectively argues that when a jury asks a specific question, the trial court must also recharge the jury with other, related concepts. South Carolina law does not require a court to recharge the jury on all related issues when the jury asks a specific question. *See Anderson*, 322 S.C. at 94 (trial court properly excluded a *King*¹⁰ recharge when the jury only requested a

⁹ "Legal cause" is not a synonym of "foreseeability" or "proximate cause." *See Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 400, 477 S.E.2d 715, 721 (Ct. App. 1996) (recognizing that "proximate cause requires proof of both causation in fact and legal cause"); *see also* Blacks Law Dictionary 213 (7th ed. 1999) (on the definition of "legal cause," stating only, "See proximate cause.").

¹⁰ *See State v. King*, 158 S.C. 251, 155 S.E. 409 (1930) (holding that trial court should instruct the jury that if they had any reasonable doubt as to whether unlawful killing was

recharge on the definitions of murder, malice, and involuntary manslaughter, and the original instructions included the *King* charge); *Barksdale*, 311 S.C. 210 at 216 (rejecting appellant's argument that the trial court should have recharged the definition of "mob," even where the appellant claimed "it was essential to understanding the definition of lynching," where the trial court recharged the definition of lynching per the jury's request).

"A charge is sufficient if, as a whole, it covers the law applicable to the case." *Id.* A court's "failure to charge in greater detail is not error if the details were fully covered in the original charge." *Rauch v. Zayas*, 284 S.C. 594, 597, 327 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 1985) (citing *Corbin v. Prioleau*, 260 S.C. 171, 194 S.E.2d 875 (1973)).¹¹ Thus, the "whole charge" in this case includes the original charge, which discussed foreseeability. The jury's request for recharge on the "definition of proximate cause" "was very specific and indicated [the jury's] areas of confusion." *See Rauch*, 284 S.C. at 597. "The court's additional charge was limited to answering the jury's request." *Id.* Thus, there is no error. *See id.*

Further, Pickens' cited case of *State v. Lee-Grigg*, 387 S.C. 310, 692 S.E.2d 895 (2010), is not "instructive." The case does not address the question Pickens raises in this appeal – whether the trial court, upon receiving a request for a specific recharge of an

murder or manslaughter, it was jury's duty to convict defendant of the lesser offense, manslaughter)." *State v. Anderson*, 322 S.C. 89, 91, 470 S.E.2d 103, 104 (1996).

¹¹ The Georgia law Pickens cites directly conflicts with South Carolina law on this point. *Miller v. State*, 236 Ga.App. 825, 13 S.E.2d 27 (Ga. Ct. App. 1999). In *Miller*, the court held that a jury must be recharged on issues far exceeding its specific requests, even if the instruction was already given in the original charge. This holding conflicts with South Carolina cases of *Rauch v. Zayas*, 284 S.C. 594, 597, 327 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 1985) and *Corbin v. Prioleau*, 260 S.C. 171, 194 S.E.2d 875 (1973), and thus carries no precedential value whatsoever in this state.

instruction previously given, must also recharge other instructions previously given. In *Lee-Grigg*, the question raised on appeal was whether the trial court erred in refusing to include *in the original charge* an instruction supported by the evidence. *Id.* at 316. In that forgery case, the defendant put in evidence of her good character, and requested an instruction to the jury on good character. *Id.* at 315. The trial court refused. *Id.* The Supreme Court held the trial court's ruling was error because, in South Carolina, it is well settled that a defendant in a criminal case may put on evidence of good character, and is entitled to an instruction that the character should be considered by the jury in determining innocence or guilt. *Id.* at 317. The court noted that the jury later asked for a recharge on "intent," which was "evidence that they were struggling with this question," but without an instruction on character they were not aware they could consider such evidence. *Id.*

Here, Pickens acknowledges that the trial court properly and completely instructed the jury on proximate cause in its initial charge, and Pickens raised no objection. (Appellant's Brief, p. 26.) The jury heard all it needed to hear in the original charge, whereas the jury in *Lee-Grigg* was *never* instructed on a critical issue. Thus, *Lee-Grigg* does not apply.

Finally, Pickens speculates that the jury's request for a recharge on proximate cause "evidences its struggle with the issue." And that "...the jury was misguided on the question whether Pickens should be found liable for breaching the parties' contract or in negligence." (Appellant's Brief, p. 30.) (Again, Pickens did not object to the charge for breach of contract.) It is more likely, if the jury was "struggling," it was as to Winthrop's comparative negligence given the simultaneous request for a recharge on the

International Fire Code provision applicable to Winthrop. (R. p. 879, line 25-p. 880, line 14.) Whatever the basis for the jury's "struggle," it is improper to speculate when there is no error warranting reversal of the final judgment for breach of contract.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN BIFURCATING THE TRIAL

A. The trial court acted properly and within its broad discretion to decide to bifurcate the trial.

Rule 42(b), SCRCF, states that "The court, in furtherance of convenience or to avoid prejudice, or when separate trials will be conducive to expedition and economy, may order a separate trial of any . . . separate issue or . . . issues." Here, the trial court granted the motion to bifurcate after having "a conversation in chambers" with counsel for both parties. (R. p. 149, lines 7-16.) It then placed its reasons for its ruling on the record:

And the basis for it was, I questioned plaintiff's counsel very closely about that because I was not inclined to bifurcate if I was going to have the same witnesses testify in the second trial with regard to damages, but since apparently the only witnesses who will be testifying about the damages their testimony would be a lot shorter in the liability phase and most of the [sic] these witnesses on damages will not be called during the liability phase. It makes sense to me to bifurcate because if the jury were to return a verdict for the defendant we wouldn't have to spend all that time with all those witnesses on damages.

On the other hand, if they return a verdict against the defendant then with regard to damages the witnesses pretty much are different witnesses. Not the same witnesses. So we won't lose any time or have to put witnesses up to testify basically to the same things twice. That will be my only concern because that would be a waste of time. But in light of the fact that witnesses are going to be different most of them on the damages than the liability, it makes sense to get the liability determined.

Again, if they find for the defendant on that that will be the end of it. If they find for the plaintiff on that then we can get into the damage, but we won't have a repeat of the testimony which is what I was concerned about. This is an appropriate case. I do not do that very often, but I think this is

an appropriate case for bifurcation.

(R. p. 150, line 1-p. 151, line 5.) The trial court's reasons speak to convenience, expedition, and economy—all valid bases under rule 42(b) that support his discretionary ruling to bifurcate.

B. Pickens failed to put any contemporaneous specific objection to bifurcation on the record, failing to preserve this issue for appeal.

Again, it appears that the merits of Winthrop's motion to bifurcate were discussed in chambers. (R. p. 149, lines 7-16.) There is no transcript in the record of that discussion. The court gave Pickens the opportunity to place the basis for his objection on the record: "Let defense counsel object to the ruling on the bifurcation." (R. p. 149, lines 15-16.) Pickens only generally objected, without providing any legal or factual reason for the objection:

Yes, we do oppose the plaintiff's request for bifurcation. I understand that we had a conversation in chambers with Your Honor. Your Honor, has reached a decision on that. I just wanted to state that we did oppose that for the record.

(R. p. 149, lines 20-24.)

A general objection, "without reference to any basis on which the objection was made . . . does not preserve any argument for appeal because such a general statement does not bring the specific grounds for the objection to the attention of the trial court." *Busillo v. City of North Charleston*, 404 S.C. 604, 608, 745 S.E.2d 142, 145 (Ct. App. 2013). An objection "must be made with sufficient specificity 'to inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector.'" *Allegro*, 400 S.C. at 44 (quoting *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998)). Further, "[a] motion or an objection made during an off-the-record conference that is not made a part of the record

does not preserve the question for review.” *Solley v. Navy Fed. Credit Union, Inc.*, 397 S.C. 192, 213-14, 723 S.E.2d 597, 608 (Ct. App. 2012). Pickens did not preserve any issue for appeal with respect to the trial court’s decision to bifurcate.

At the end of the trial on damages, Pickens orally moved for a new trial absolute, partially based on the court’s decision to bifurcate. (R. p. 977, line 17-p. 978, line 3.) Pickens argued that Winthrop’s theory of the case rendered bifurcation inappropriate because proximate cause and damages should have been tried considered together. (R. p. 977, line 17-p. 978, line 3) Winthrop responded that Pickens’ argument was not made previously when bifurcation was discussed, that the bifurcation caused no prejudice, and the decision was well within the trial court’s discretion. (R. p. 980, line 21-p. 981, line 2)

The trial court denied the motion for new trial, and provided further insight into what occurred during the in-chambers discussion preceding the beginning of trial:

Let me say this on the bifurcation. *The only objection to the bifurcation stated by the defendant at the time was that the jury – you thought the jury ought to know the full amount of the damages and that you were afraid that they would not – the jury would not perceive the magnitude of the damages and the magnitude of any verdict in this case.* In the event they rendered a verdict in favor of the plaintiff they wouldn’t understand the magnitude of it. And that they might not appreciate the magnitude of it just going on the liability issue.

(R. p. 986, line 17-p. 987, line 2.) The court then explained how there was no prejudice because it allowed either side to tell the jury during opening argument about the amount of damages at issue, and the plaintiff did so. (R. p. 987, lines 2-13.) And the court explained in depth how bifurcation had the potential to save substantial time and expense, so bifurcation made sense. (R. p. 987, line 13-p. 989, line 9.) Pickens’ brief does not appeal the denial of its motion for new trial on this basis. (Appellant’s Brief, p 34-39.)

Even if Pickens had raised this argument, an issue may not be raised for the first time in a [motion for new trial] if it could have been raised previously. *McCormick v. England*, 328 S.C. 627, 633, 494 S.E.2d 431, 434 n. 3 (Ct. App. 1997); *McGee v. Bruce Hosp. System*, 321 S.C. 340, 346, 468 S.E.2d 633, 637 (1996) (issue raised for first time in motion for new trial is “procedurally barred”).

On appeal, Pickens argues that the issues of liability and damages were too interrelated to warrant bifurcation, and “[b]ifurcation was inappropriate because the jury was forced to separately consider proximate cause and damages, even though these two issues were inextricably linked.” (Appellant’s Brief pp. 34-39.) Pickens did not raise these arguments before trial, and the trial court did not have the opportunity to consider and rule upon them at that time. *See Creighton*, 334 S.C. at 108 (holding that an issue not raised or ruled on by the trial court is not preserved for appellate review). Pickens raised these arguments for the first time in a motion for new trial at the conclusion of the damages trial, which was too late to preserve the arguments. *See McGee*, 321 S.C. at 346. The issues are procedurally barred.

C. Liability and damages were not inextricably intertwined.

Even if preserved, Pickens’ arguments fail. Pickens claims that there would have been damage even without the improper storage of combustibles. Thus, bifurcation was improper because the jury was precluded from separating out the damage that would have occurred if Pickens was not involved. Pickens’ argument is without merit.

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